1971

Mary Harding v. Frank Bohman : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action brought by the plaintiff claiming a right-of-way through the land of the defendant, which claim is based on a public dedication by use or a private right-of-way acquired by prescriptive use and pursuant to the laws of the State of Utah. The Second Judicial District Court in and for Morgan County in a hearing which took place on the 14th day of December, 1970, the Honorable Ronald O. Hyde, Judge, presiding, in a memorandum decision and judgment ruled that the plaintiff had failed to establish that the road in question had been dedicated by public use and the Court ignored

and failed to rule on the other questions raised and alleged by the plaintiff-appellant.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The plaintiff-appellant seeks a reversal of the trial court's decision as to the one issue decided by the Court and that in any event the case be remanded to the lower court with instructions to grant the relief prayed for in the complaint on any one of the grounds alleged in said complaint.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Dry Hollow Road is located in Morgan County, Utah. It runs in a general easterly direction through property owned by defendant-respondent (hereinafter designated as "respondent"), and thereafter through property belonging to plaintiff-appellant (hereinafter designated as "appellant"). (T: 4.5, Exhs. A. B. 17). Among other things, it has been used to maintain a spring in the East Half of the Southwest Quarter of Section 33, Township 5 North, Range 2 East of the Salt Lake Meridian, and for access for use of irrigation waters arising in what is known as Dry Creek. The water right of appellant's predecessor in interest to use the waters of Dry Creek, as well as the excess water of the aforementioned spring, dates back to the year 1866. (T: 25, 35, Exh. C (page 28, rt. #189)).

Mr. John L. Young, now 75 years of age, remembers Dry Hollow Road as being in existence since the

time he was 10 years old, or a period of 65 years. He considered it a public road in use by deer hunters "and that" made it such. "There was always travel up that way." (Sheepmen and deer hunters.) There was no restriction on this activity "until later years." For a period of 50 or 60 years "there was nobody stopped them from going there." (T: 75, 76, 77, 78).

On the 9th day of February, 1917, respondent's predecessors in interest entered into a "Water Deed and Agreement" with the "Board of Education of Morgan County, Utah," under the terms of which respondent's predecessors in interest conveyed and warranted to the School Board "all their right, title and interest in and to the water" of the above mentioned spring. In addition to the grant of water, the "Water Deed and Agreement" recites as follows:

"also a perpetual right-of-way and easement one rod in width over and across the lands owned by said parties of the second part hereinbefore mentioned, for the purpose of laying a pipe line and maintaining the same to convey the waters of said spring, and for ingress and egress to the said party of the first part, agents, employees, and contractors for the purpose of laying said pipe line and making repairs, inspection, maintenance, and improvement of the same, the said use to be at as little damage as possible to the said parties of the second part, the said right of way and easement to be in a westerly direction from said spring and along the course of stakes heretofore staked and laid out by Bostaph and Roach, engineers, one half of said right of way and easement to be on each side of said pipelines

as finally laid, and the parties of the second part agree to execute a Deed for same containing a particular description thereof to be as furnished by the said Bosteph and Roach."

In consideration of said conveyance, the Board of Education granted the respondent's predecessors in interest two connections to the pipe line. (Exh. 1).

In the year 1920, the School Board constructed a roadway along the right-of-way conveyed to it by respondent's predecessors in interest. (T: 8). In 1937, the School Board, by warranty deed, conveyed its water rights in the above mentioned spring, and all appurtenances, to the Peterson Corporation of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints. This warranty deed contains the following language:

"To be transferred under the following conditions: that the property described herein be permanently maintained intact and used for public benefit and to remain nontransferrable in part or whole to private enterprise and that a reasonable effort be made by the grantee to maintain and use the property for the best interest of the community." (T: 11, 12, Exh. 2).

Dry Hollow Road has been used by deer hunters, tree cutters, irrigators, fence builders, farmers, neckers, sheepmen, and the general public from before 1900 until 1964 without restriction. (T: 25, 34, 35, 39, 40, 54, 57, 61, 63, 67, 69, 76, 77, 78, 79, 97, 99, 101, 102, 103, 113). In 1961, at the time the freeway was under construction, the State of Utah fenced off the property line where Dry

Hollow Road begins and proceeds across respondent's land. The gates in this fence were installed by the State Highway Department. (T: 6).

Until 1953, there was no lock on Dry Hollow Road entrance to respondent's land from the public road. In 1953, respondent put a lock on the gate leading into appellant's land, and the lock was there for 4 years. However, appellant's predecessors in interest had a key to the lock. (T: 123, 128, 129).

One person paid respondent's predecessor in interest \$20.00 for taking his sheep up the roadway, but this was for damage the sheep did to the surrounding pasture, and not for the use of the road. (T: 91, 93).

In July of 1964, respondent paid the School Board the sum of \$10.00 for a Quit Claim Deed to the property the School Board had previously conveyed by warranty deed (in 1937) to the Peterson Corporation of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, and which contained the above cited recitations. Thereafter, respondent refused to permit appellant and appellant's predecessors in interest to use the Dry Hollow Road. (T: 115, Exh. 3).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The Legislature reenacted Section 27-1-2, now Section 27-12-89, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, as amended, which states as follows:

"Public use constituting dedication — A highway shall be deemed to have been dedicated and

abandoned to the use of the public when it has been continuously used as a public thoroughfare for a period of ten years."

One of the basic issues before the Court in this case is the application of this statute to the facts as shown in the record and as this statute has been interpreted by this Court in other cases heretofore decided involving an interpretation of this statute.

There is evidence in the record that there was, in fact, a public dedication of the highway in question and that the provisions of Section 27-1-3, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, as amended, should have been considered and applied by the lower court.

The court below made no decision as to whether or not the plaintiff-appellant had acquired a prescriptive right to the use of the defendant-respondent's thoroughfare in question.

The court below made no reference or mention to the provisions of Section 73-1-15, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, as amended, which allows the plaintiff-respondent a right-of-way through the land of the defendant-respondent to maintain her water right, which right is clearly shown in the record.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT DRY HOLLOW ROAD IS NOT A PUBLIC ROAD BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE CLEARLY ESTABLISHES (A) THAT DRY HOLLOW ROAD HAS BEEN USED BY THE PUBLIC FOR OVER SIXTY YEARS WITH THE KNOWLEDGE AND IMPLIED ACQUIESCENCE OF THE OWNERS OF THE FEE TITLE OF THE LAND OVER WHICH IT PASSES, AND (B) DRY HOLLOW ROAD WAS DEDICATED TO PUBLIC USE BY A RECORDED PUBLIC DOCUMENT EXECUTED BY THE SCHOOL BOARD OF MORGAN COUNTY, UTAH.

The record in this case clearly indicates that for over sixty years Dry Hollow Road was used at will by hunters, sheep herders, fence builders, farmers and the general public. This use was with the knowledge of the owners of the land over which it passed and without objection on their part (see Statement of Facts).

(A) Section 27-12-89, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, as amended states as follows:

"A highway shall be deemed to have been dedicated and abandoned to the use of the public when it has been continuously used as a public thoroughfare for a period of ten years."

The Utah Supreme Court has had many occasions to construe the above cited statute or its predecessors which were worded identically. In an early Utah case reported in 16 UTAH 240; 51 P. 980, Whitaker vs. Ferguson, the Court defined a "thoroughfare" and the conditions under which it became public. The Court said:

"... A thoroughfare is a place or way through which there is passing or travel. It becomes a 'public thoroughfare' when the public has a general right of passage. Under this statute the highway, even though it be over privately owned ground, will be deemed dedicated or abandoned to the public use when the public has continuously used it as a thoroughfare for a period of ten years ..."

In the case of Clark vs. Erikson, 9 UTAH 2nd 212; 341 P. 2nd 424, (July, 1959) the Court stated:

"There was testimony by witnesses, some of whom could remember back to 1890, that Erikson Lane had been used by the general public, either walking or riding in wagons and later in automobiles. The road was being constantly used by people either to go to church or to fish in Little Cottonwood Creek through which the lane passed, or as a short cut north between 59th South and Vine Street. There was no evidence that permission was sought or given by anyone to use this short cut. . . . This evidence is sufficient to establish a dedication of the road by user under the provisions of Section 27-1-2, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, the evidence being uncontradicted that Erikson Lane was being used as a highway by the public generally for more than ten years."

In another early case, Schettler vs. Lynch, 23 UTAH 305; 64 P. 955, the Court held that "land having been once dedicated by the owners of the soil as a highway, and having been accepted by the public, all subsequent grantees of the abutting lands are bound by such dedication, and have no right to obstruct any portion of the street."

(B) On February 9, 1917, (after Dry Hollow Road had been used by the public for over twenty years) respondent's predecessors in interest conveyed Dry Hollow Road to the Board of Education of Morgan County, Utah. (See exh. 1). In the year 1920 the Board of Education, which is a body politic of the State of Utah, constructed a road over the Dry Hollow Thoroughfare. (T:) In 1937, some twenty years after its purchase of the Dry Hollow Road and some seventeen years after the construction work done on the road, the Board of Education deeded the road to the Peterson Corporation of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints. We repeat part of the wording in this deed for the convenience of the Court: ". . . to be transferred under the following conditions: That the property described herein be permanently maintained intact and used for public benefit and to remain non-transferable in part or whole to private enterprise and that a reasonable effort be made by the grantee to maintain and use the property for the best interest of the community." (Exh. 2, 11, 12).

After the dedication contained in this deed, Dry Hollow Road was used for various purposes by the general public without objection on the part of the owners of the fee (see Statement of Facts). In July of 1964 (some 27 years after the dedication to public use above cited), respondent paid the school board the sum of \$10 for a quit-claim deed, in favor of respondent, quit-claiming, among other things, the right-of-way represented by Dry Hollow Road. Section 27-12-90 (formerly 27-1-3) UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, as amended, states as follows:

"All highways, once established, must continue to be highways until abandoned by order of the Board of County Commissioners of the county in which they are situated, or other competent authority."

Thus Dry Hollow Road by use and by acquiescence of the owners of the fee, has been dedicated to public use by implication for a period of over sixty years. Furthermore, it has specifically been dedicated to public use by a recorded deed executed by a public body for a period of some thirty years. An attempt to void this public dedication by quit-claim deed is nullity.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO RULE ON THE ISSUE OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S CLAIM TO A PRESCRIPTIVE EASEMENT TO THE ROAD IN QUESTION AS ALLEGED IN HER COMPLAINT AND AS SHOWN BY HER EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD.

The Court's attention is called to paragraphs 2 and 4 of the prayer of plaintiff's complaint in which the plaintiff-appellant asks the Court to declare that the plaintiff "has the right to use the aforesaid right-of-way for ingress and egress to the above described property," and "for an order of the Court enjoining and restraining the defendant from interfering with plaintiff's use of said right-of-way in obtaining ingress and egress from said real property."

The Supreme Court of the State of Utah in the case of Morris vs. Blunt, et al, 49 UTAH 243, 161 P.

1127, determined that "the right by prescription can only arise by adverse use and enjoyment under claim of right uninterrupted and continuous for a period of 20 years."

This case established the basic prescriptive period for obtaining a right-of-way by adverse use in the State of Utah and the Court goes on to say: "Under the well-established rule, the use, in order that it may ripen into a prescriptive title, must, in any case, not only be adverse and continuous, and under claim of right for a period of twenty years, but it must be uninterrupted throughout that period."

Applying the ruling of the Court to the facts in the instant case, the Court's attention is called to the fact that the record clearly discloses that the plaintiff-appellant and her predecessors in interest used the highway or thoroughfare through the property of the defendant-respondent uninterruptedly for more than twenty years under a claim of right, which was based on the facts that there had been a written public dedication of the highway or thoroughfare in question on which the plaintiff and her predecessors in interest had relied and, furthermore, the record discloses that plaintiff-appellant and her predecessors in interest all took the position that this was a public thoroughfare dedicated by reason of the general use of the public over a period of time in excess of sixty years and that in any event, plaintiff-appellant and her predecessors in interest had a right to use the road in question to maintain their water rights. Certainly, the record is clear that the claim to the use of

the roadway in question was based on the rights as heretofore set forth and shown in the record.

The record further indicates that the use by the plaintiff-appellant was uninterrupted throughout the prescriptive period of twenty years. There is evidence that a fence and a gate was erected but that the plaintiff-appellant's predecessor in interest was given a key to the lock on the gate so that at no time was the plaintiff-appellant or her predecessor in interest denied the right to the use of the road in question. The Court's attention is further called to the fact that the present fence and gate, which the defendant-respondent locked in 1964, and which precipitated this lawsuit, was not erected by the defendant-respondent but rather was placed there by the State Highway Department to protect the state highway right-of-way and prevent livestock from entering thereon from the private property adjacent to the freeway right-of-way.

On the basis of the law and the facts in the record, the plaintiff-appellant had acquired a prescriptive right to the use of the property of the defendant-respondent for the limited purpose of ingress and egress from the state highway to her property.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT FINDING FROM THE FACTS IN THE RECORD THAT PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT HAD ACQUIRED A RIGHT-OF-WAY THROUGH DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT'S LAND FOR THE PURPOSE OF MAINTAINING HER WATER RIGHT, PURSUANT TO

THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 73-1-15, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, AS AMENDED.

The Legislature of this state many years ago realized that water and proper access to the water at its point of diversion created many feuding "Martin and McCoy" situations and therefore wisely enacted Section 73-1-15 UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, as amended, imposing criminal penalties for a violation of a person's right-of-way to maintain his rights to properly care for his water along the water course up to the point of diversion. Said section reads as follows:

"Obstructing ditches or right-of-way — Penalty. — Whenever any person has a right-of-way for any canal or other water course it shall be unlawful for any person to place or maintain in place any obstruction, by fence or otherwise, along or across such canal or water course, without providing gates sufficient for the passage of the owner of such canal or water course. Any person violating the provisions of this section is guilty of a misdemeanor."

The record, as hereofore reiterated to this Court in the Statement of Facts, clearly shows that plaintiff-appellant and her predecessors in interest had a water right in the Bohman Springs and that pursuant to this right she and her predecessors in interest had continuously, for over twenty years, used the road in question for the purpose of maintaining the water right and the water course and that at no time prior to 1964 when the defendant-respondent placed a lock on the state highway right-of-way gate was the plaintiff-appellant and her predecessors in interest ever denied a right to use the

road in question for the purpose of maintaining the water course of the water to which they were entitled to use out of the Bohman Springs.

While there is no evidence in the record that plaintiff-appellant has invoked the provisions of said Section 73-1-15, this Court can take judicial notice of the laws of the State of Utah as could the lower court and can therefore rule that plaintiff-appellant is entitled under the laws of this state to the protection of her rights as set forth in the above quoted section of our code.

CONCLUSION

While the law hesitates placing a burden upon private property, either for a public use or a private use, the law does clearly recognize both by statute and case law that such rights can be acquired. The courts of this state have indicated that where a thoroughfare has been used continuously and openly by the general public for a long period of time, sixty years or more, there arises a strong presumption that such thoroughfare has been dedicated by public use. Particularly is this true where there has been a written public dedication and acquiescence over a long period of time by the owner of the land over which the road in question runs and thereby people have relied upon such facts and have used the roadway openly, notoriously and with a claim of right over such period of time.

Furthermore, a private individual can acquire a prescriptive right through continuous, uninterrupted use

under claim of right adverse to the rights of the owner of the land over which the roadway in question runs and plaintiff-appellant respectfully submits that the record clearly shows that she and her predecessors in interest have acquired such a prescriptive right and the court below should have ruled on this issue. In any event, the plaintiff-appellant under the law has a right to maintain the water course in the water right which she has in the Bohman Springs and therefore is entitled to the relief prayed for in her complaint under the provisions of Section 73-1-15, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, as amended.