1971

Mary Harding v. Frank Bohman : Respondent's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING THAT THERE WAS NO PUBLIC ROAD EITHER (A) BY PUBLIC USE FOR SIXTY YEARS OR (B) BY A RECORD PUBLIC DOCUMENT.

(A) The record of the facts as heretofore set forth demonstrates conclusively that there was no area known as Dry Hollow Road, except as was invented by the ingenuity of Counsel and the Plaintiff.

Section 27-12-89 UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953 states:

"A highway shall be deemed to have been dedicated and abandoned to the use of the public when it has been continually used as a public thoroughfare for a period of ten years."

What constitutes dedication and abandonment to the use of the public has been interpreted by a number of Utah decisions.

In *Brown vs. the Oregon Shortline Railroad*, 36 Utah 257, 102 Pacific 740, the original owner of the

property in question had deeded various lots from an original piece. In addition, the grantor had deeded a right-of-way across his property to the grantees, their heirs and assigns, which was in fact, the only access to the property of the grantees. The strip used for ingress and egress was some 330 feet long and called Morris Avenue. The plaintiff grantees brought an action to have the so-called easement declared a public way. The court denied this application, saying in part as follows:

“Dedication rests primarily on the intention, expressed or implied, *Whitesides vs. Green*, 13 Utah 341, 44 Pacific 1032. There is nothing, either in the deeds or in the acts of the deceased, to show an intention, either expressed or implied upon his part to dedicate this strip to public use.” The court concluded, saying:

“The fact that anyone who has any social or business relations with either of the occupants of any of the parcels abutting upon the strip could pass over it did not make it a public--distinguished from a private--easement.”

The *Brown* decision has not been overruled and has been cited by many jurisdictions as authority for the proposition that there must be a dedication, either expressed or implied, by the property owner for a period of ten years or more before it can be declared to be a public highway.

Similarly, in *Schettler vs. Lynch*, 23 Utah 305, 64 Pacific 955, the court held that the dedication of land for highway purposes may either be express--as where

the owner manifests his purpose by a grant evidenced by writing-- or implied--where acts or conduct of the owner clearly manifest his intention to devote land to public use. The court did also find that the dedication of land as highway may be inferred by the public's long continued use of it, as such, with the knowledge of and without the objection of the owner.

Again in *Culmer vs. Salt Lake City*, 27 Utah 252, 75 Pacific 620, the court held that there was no dedication shown under this section, where it appeared that an alleyway, which had been more or less used by the public at will for a number of years, had, from time to time, been closed by abutting owners, who at all times exercised control over it.

In the case at bar it cannot be disputed that the property of the Defendant was fenced, not only on the highway but entirely surrounding his property, and that it had been so fenced for a great number of years. Further, it cannot be denied that there was a gate in place, not only on the roadway but upon the entrance to the Plaintiff's property and that for a great number of years the same gate had been locked. Certainly, this cannot be held to demonstrate a lack of control of an intent to dedicate the public highway.

The Supreme Court of the State of Utah had a somewhat different fact situation in *Morris vs. Blunt*, 49 Utah 243, 161 Pacific 1127. The plaintiff in that case was the owner of land and brought an action to restrain the defendants from traveling across it. The defendants admitted that the Plaintiffs did, in fact, own

the land but claimed a right-of-way across it and for the public, based upon the following facts:

The original owner deeded to his grantee, who was the defendant's predecessor in interest, a right-of-way. In addition, some of the people who lived west of the property traveled across the right-of-way frequently. The road or right-of-way was open without gates. There was no sign to the effect that there was no trespassing and that the roadway was a private roadway. Occupants and visitors of the occupants so deeded with the right-of-way traveled this road to and from the house. A canal ran along the right-of-way and was serviced from the right-of-way and the workers used the same to clean and maintain the canal. Subsequently, the plaintiff placed a gate across the fence and halted traffic, preventing them from using this particular road. The defendants claimed that the road had become a public highway from long and continued use. Others claimed that by reason of the right-of-way this became pertinent to the land conveyed and indeed became a public highway.

The Supreme Court denied all of the defendants' contentions, sustained the plaintiff, and held that the same was not a public right-of-way or public highway, even though used by workers cleaning the canal, by a few members of the public going to and from their homes, and by use of the homeowner to whom the right-of-way was given, saying:

"A dedication rests primarily in the intent of the owner. There must be a concession intentionally made by him which may be proved

by declaration or by acts or may be inferred from the circumstances. ***

It must, however, appear that he knew of the use by the public and intended to grant the right-of-way to the public. No mormal acceptance by any public officer is necessary, but there must be the actual use by the public."

Taking the present evidence, it is apparent that the only persons who used the right-of-way were some sheepmen who did so with permission of the owner, some people working on behalf of either the School Board or the Petersen Ward who repaired and maintained the pipeline and who had permission to do so, together with certain deer hunters and predecessors of the Plaintiff, who did so without the knowledge and/or consent of the owner, the Defendant or his predecessors, except for one period of time when the Plaintiff's father may have had a key to one of the locked gates and as a consequence he must have been held to have used it by permission.

It is difficult to determine during what ten-year period the Plaintiff contends that there were gates, but no locks and by what theory the Plaintiff contends that these acts amounted to a desire on the part of the Defendant to dedicate a public thoroughfare.

The court in *Morris vs. Blunt* further held that there was no way, that a private right-of-way can be converted into a public right-of-way, that the public as such must use the road and the use under the claim of a private right is not sufficient, stating:

“If the thoroughfare is laid out or used as a private way, its use, however long, does not make it a public way, and the mere fact that the public also makes use of it without objection from the owner of the ground will not make it a public way. Before it becomes public in character, the owner of the ground must consent to the change.”

See also *Gilmer vs. Carter*, 15 Utah 2d 280, 390 Pacific 2d, 426.

In another interesting case, somewhat related to this particular problem, is *Thimpson vs. Nelsen*, 2 Utah 2d, 340, 273 Pacific 2d, 720, wherein considering the evidence to support the contention that a road was not a public road, the court noted that the land in question sought to be declared to be a public highway led to no place of public interest. It was a dead end and was used only for the purpose of delivering merchandise and supplies to a building, not as a private road to private property.

Here, the so-called right-of-way or public road led into grounds used only for hunting or grazing of sheep.

The latest decision is that of *Petersen vs. Combe*, 20 Utah 2d, 376, 438 Pacific 2d, 545. This, again, was a case where the plaintiff sought to have a county road declared a public highway by public use for ten years pursuant to 27-12-89 U. C. A. 1953. In reversing the trial court decision, the court posed the following question:

“Was there sufficient evidence by competent testimony of witnesses who were not self-serving, to show by clear and convincing that the public

generally--not just a few having their own special and private interest in the road--had used the road continuously for ten years?" We think that there was not such quantity or quality adduced. Furthermore, we believe the testimony of plaintiff's own witness defeated the plaintiff's own cause, upon the simple principle that "the testimony of one's own witness is no stronger than its weakest link."

The above quotation fits at bar most admirably; except for family members of the Plaintiff, no witnesses in reality supported the Plaintiff. Indeed, the testimony of DeVerl Lamb and particularly John L. Young demonstrated that the ground was never a public way, that it had never been open to the public. These were the witnesses produced by the Plaintiff.

(B) The Plaintiff now contends the dedication to public use by public document. This does not conform to the facts. It is quite true that the Board of Education of Morgan County received a deed for 7.20 acres (Ex. 1). It is further true that the Board of Education conveyed that 7.20 acres to the Petersen Corporation of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints (Ex. 2). It is also true that Exhibits 1 and 2 included an easement for the purpose of transporting water from Bohman Springs to the 7.20 acres. Finally, it is true that the State of Utah took all of the 7.20 acres of ground for the purpose of constructing an Interstate highway. At that time all the Petersen Ward had remaining was an easement to maintain a waterline to property no longer in existence. For that reason, the right-of-way

was conveyed to the Defendant herein by quit claim deed (Ex. 3).

The trial court, in its memorandum decision, said:

“The right-of-way for the utilization of the pipeline was by grant to the School Board. The use of the road was to maintain their pipeline. The property served by the pipeline was transferred by the School Board to the Church, together with the deed that it would be used for public’s purpose. The “public’s purposes” phrase would be for the seven acres and not to any easement for the utilization of the pipeline. The School Board or their successors in title using the roadway for the maintenance of their pipeline would be in conformance with their grant and not of public use.”

An examination of the complaint of the Plaintiff does not set forth any claim predicated upon a public dedication or upon any written instrument. The Defendant posed interrogatives to the Plaintiff on May 23rd, 1969. Number two:

“State whether on not said right-of-way is based upon any public document.” Number Three: “State whether or not said right-of-way or claim thereto is based upon any written document. If so, state the time, place of execution, and parties signatory thereto.”

In July of 1969, the Plaintiff, under oath, gave the following answers: “Two: “Said right-of-way is not based upon any public document.” Three: “Said

right-of-way is not based upon any written document."

The Plaintiffs herein did not object to the memorandum decision as being in error relative to their claim of a grant predicated upon a written document. Their contention now appears for the first time before this court. It is neither timely nor correct factually. An easement to maintain a pipeline, even if valid in the public, would be only for the purpose of maintaining a non-existent, unused pipeline and would afford the Plaintiff herein neither comfort nor assistance.

Such an easement, even if present, could not be expanded, nor does the Plaintiff cite any facts or authority in support of their position.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO RULE UPON EACH OF THE PRESCRIPTIVE EASEMENT IN FAVOR OF THE PLAINTIFF.

It is well established throughout this country that a prescriptive right can only arise by adverse use or enjoyment under a claim of right uninterrupted and continuous for a period of 20 years. *Morris vs. Blunt* supra.

The Plaintiff did not claim and no evidence was adduced to show any adverse use or enjoyment under a claim of right prior to the time that the father of the Plaintiff, Jerry Morgan, purchased ground now held by the Plaintiff in 1947. The Defendant purchased ground owned by him in 1964 (Tr. 5). He has prevented people from using that road since that time (Tr. 6). Even if one ignored the uncontroverted testimony that in 1953, '54, '55, and '56 all of the gates between the proper-

ties were locked (Tr. 120), one would only have a period of seventeen years.

Counselor attempts to get around that by saying that the Plaintiff's predecessor in interest was given a key, and, as a result, was not denied the right or permission to go through. He failed to state how this comes within his own definition of "adverse use and enjoyment, uninterrupted and continuous."

POINT III

*THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DECLIN-
ING TO FIND THAT THE PLAINTIFF HAD AC-
QUIRED A RIGH-OF-WAY FOR THE PURPOSE OF
MAINTAINING A WATER RIGHT.*

The Plaintiff's predecessor in interest, Jerry Morgan, claimed to have acquired an interest in water right number 270, Exhibit C. This exhibit provides on its face that "this application has not yet been approved by the state engineer this eighth day of January 1937." No evidence was introduced tending to show that the application for water right 270 had ever been approved or that it had, in fact, been transferred to the Plaintiff or any of her predecessors in interest. The deed to the Plaintiff's father, Jerry Morgan, (Defendant's Exhibit 4, which was filed for record in Volume Q of Deeds, page 455 of the office of the Recorder of Morgan County-

Tr. 44) does not purport to grant a conveyance of any water right, either to the Plaintiff's predecessor in in-

terest, either in the Bohman Springs or any other water right. No record was introduced from the office of the state engineer showing a decreed right to the use of any water from Bohman Springs or any other source vested in the Plaintiff or in any of the Plaintiff's predecessors in interest. The Plaintiff, therefore, showed no interest in any water right predicated upon any public document.

The last sentence of 73-3-1, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, which was adopted in 1939, and which amended 73-3-1, provides "no right to the use of water either appropriated or unappropriated can be acquired by adverse use or adverse possession."

The Plaintiff did not contend either in pleading or by the evidence that she had acquired the right to water by adverse possession prior to 1939 and no evidence was introduced which would tend to support such a contention.

No one would deny that the Plaintiff is entitled under the laws of the state to the protection of her rights; however, she produced no evidence to show that she had any interest in any water right. She did not complain in her complaint that she had any water right or any right-of-way predicated thereon or necessary for the use thereof. She produced no evidence, documentary or otherwise, showing a water right, and there was no contention in the evidence that she had acquired a right by adverse possession. It is true that her father said he had used some water commencing with the year 1947; he could not, however, produce any deed or documenta-

tion as to his right and made no claim by adverse usage, which, of course, would have been spurious in view of the fact that he did not acquire the real property until 1947, some eight years after the enactment of the amendment to 73-3-1 UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953.

CONCLUSION

The Plaintiff below appellant herein has filed her appeal based upon three grounds. It is submitted that she failed to sustain her burden of proof by clear and convincing evidence on the first ground and has produced neither fact nor law to substantiate her position on the second and third grounds. The Plaintiff's appeal should be dismissed with costs to the Defendant.